IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC05-831

LOWER TRIBUNAL CASE NO. F92006089C PABLO SAN MARTIN, Appellant, v. STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Gustavo J. García-Montes Florida Bar No. 986320 Registry Counsel 6780 Coral Way Miami, FL 33155 (305) 666-2880 Counsel For Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves an appeal of the circuit court's denial of Rule 3.851 relief. The trial court denied all but three (3) of thirty (30) claims brought forth by Mr. San Martin. The circuit court denied Mr. San Martin's claims after an evidentiary hearing. The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record in this appeal:

"R" -- record on direct appeal to this Court; "Supp. R" -- supplemental record on direct appeal; "PCR." -- record on post conviction appeal;

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

The Appellant, Pablo San Martin suggests that the facts and legal

arguments are adequately presented in this brief.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PRELIMINARY
STATEMENT2
REQUEST FOR ORAL
ARGUMENT2
TABLE OF
CONTENTS3
TABLE OF
AUTHORITIES6
STANDARD OF
REVIEW8
STATEMENT OF THE
CASE9
STATEMENT OF FACTS IN POST CONVICTION
PROCEEDINGS12
SUMMARY OF THE
ARGUMENTS17
ISSUES AND
ARGUMENT18
WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY
DENYING APPELLANT'S CLAIMS I THROUGH III, AND VII
THROUGH XXX RAISED IN HIS AMENDED MOTION FOR POST
CONVICTION AND/OR COLLATERAL RELIEF, WITHOUT
DETERMINING SUFFICIENCY OF THE PLEADING ON ITS FACE

AND WITHOUT PERM	ITTING ANY EVIDENTIARY	HEARING OR
AN OPPORTUNITY TO	MAKE A RECORD FOR	
REVIEW? 1	8	

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING

APPELLANT'S CLAIM NUMBER X AND XI OF APPELLANT'S
AMENDED MOTION FOR POST CONVICTION AND/OR
COLLATERAL RELIEF, WITHOUT PERMITTING ANY
EVIDENTIARY HEARING OR AN OPPORTUNITY TO MAKE A
RECORD FOR REVIEW INSOFAR THE RECORD SHOWS THAT
THERE EXISTS NEWLY AVAILABLE AND GREATER EVIDENCE
ΓHAT GOES TOWARDS SAN MARTIN'S INTENT AND
PREMEDITATION
36

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING CLAIM V AS THE COURT'S READING OF THE PENALTY PHASE TESTIMONY OF CODEFENDANT ABREU IS FACTUALLY WRONG		
CONCLUSIONS AND RELIEF SOUGHT45		
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE45		
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE46 TABLE OF AUTHORITIES		
Cases		
Anderson v. State, 841 So.2d 390, 407-08 (Fla. 2003)	42	
Andersonv. State, 627 So. 2d 1170 (Fla. 1993)	20	
Atwater v. State, 788 So.2d 223(Fla. 2001)	20	
Bertolotti v. Dugger, 883 F.2d 1503 (11 Cir. 1989)	35	
Bruno v.State, 807 So.2d 55, 61-62 (Fla. 2001)		
Carbo v. United States, 581 F.2d 91, 93 (5 DCA 1978)	31	
Cook v. State, 792 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 2001)		
Fare v. Michael C., 442 U.S. 707, 725, 61 L.Ed.2d 197 (1979)		
Finney v. State, 831 So.2d 651, 656 (Fla. 2002)	*	
Freeman v. State, 761 So.2d 1055, 1061 (Fla. 2000)		
Gaskin v. State, 737 So.2d 509, (Fla. 1999)	8, 35	
Gavilan v. State, 765 So.2d 308, 308-09 (5 DCA 2000)		
Henry v. Dees, 658 F.2d 406, 409 (5 DCA 1981)		
Hoffman v. State, 571 So. 2d 449 (Fla. 1990)		
Holland v. State, 503 So. 2d 1250 (Fla. 1987)		
Jones v. Estelle, 622 F.2d 124, 127 (5 DCA 1980)		
Jurek v. Estelle, 623 F.2d 929, 937 (5 DCA 1980)		
Kennedy v. State, 547 So.2d 912(Fla. 1989)		
Kennedy v. State, 547 So.2d 912, 913 Fla. 1989)		
Kitchen v. State, 764 So.2d 868, 869 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000)		
Lemon v. State, 498 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1986)	20	

Maharaj v. State, 684 So.2d 726 (Fla. 1996)		
Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412, 421, 89 L.Ed.2d 410 (1986)37		
Ragsdale v. State, 798 So.2d 713, 716 (Fla. 2001)28		
Ross v. State, 386 So.2d 1191 (Fla. 1980)38		
Rutherford v. State, 727 So.2d 216, 223 (Fla. 1998)29		
San Martin v. State, 705 So.2d 1337 (Fla. 1998)		
Sexton v. State, 775 So.2d 923, 935 (Fla. 2000)		
Sims v. Georgia, 389 U.S. 404, 88 S.Ct. 523, 19 L.Ed.2d 634 (1967)38		
State v. Lewis, 838 So.2d 1102, 1113 (Fla.2002)28		
State v. Riechmann, 777 So.2d 342, 350 (Fla. 2000)29		
State v. San Martin, 705 So.2d 1337 (Fla. 1998)37, 43		
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)23		
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 690-691, 104 S.Ct. 2052, (1984).34		
Thompson v. State, 548 So.2d 198, 204 ((Fla. 1989)38		
Wiggins v. Smith, 123 S.Ct. 2527 (2002)23		
Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362, 146 L Ed 2d 389, 120 S Ct 1495 (2000)27		
<i>Young v. State</i> , 511 So.2d 735 (2 DCA 1987)28		
Other Authorities		
ABA Guidelines for the Appointment and Performance of Counsel in Death		
Penalty		
Cases		
Rules		
Fla. R. Crim. Pro.		
3.85017		
Fla.R.Crim.P.3.851		
7, 15		

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A post conviction defendant sentenced to death is entitled to an evidentiary hearing unless the response and record conclusively show that the defendant is entitled to no relief. This Court encourages trial courts to conduct evidentiary hearings on initial post conviction motions in capital cases. See *Finney v. State*, 831 So.2d 651, 656 (Fla. 2002). The rules of procedure provide that such a hearing "shall" be held in capital cases on initial post conviction motions filed after October 1, 2001, "on claims listed by the defendant as requiring a factual determination." *See Finney*, 831 So.2d at 656; *see also*

Fla.R.Crim.P.3.851(f)(5)(A)(i). Upon review of a trial court's summary denial of post conviction relief without an evidentiary hearing, the reviewing court must accept all allegations in the motion as true to the extent they are not conclusively rebutted by the record. *Gaskin v. State*, 737 So.2d 509, 516 (Fla. 1999) [citations and footnote omitted].

An appellate court's standard of review of a trial court's ruling on an ineffective assistance claim is two-pronged: (1) appellate courts must defer to trial courts' findings on factual issues but (2) must review *de novo* ultimate conclusions on the performance and prejudice prongs. *Bruno v. State*, 807 So.2d 55, 61-62 (Fla. 2001).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Circuit Court for the Eleventh Judicial Circuit in and for Miami-Dade County Florida entered the judgment of conviction and sentence of death at issue.

On February 18, 1992, a grand jury sitting in Miami-Dade County indictment Mr. San Martin with one count of first degree murder. (R.1-6). Mr. San Martin pled not guilty.

Mr. San Martin was tried by a jury. The jury rendered a verdict of guilt for the charge of First Degree Murder on September 23, 1993. (R. 2483-2485).

After a penalty phase, the jury recommended death by a vote of 9 to 3 on November 4th, 1993. (R 3520-3521).

The jury found Mr. San Martin guilty as charged on all counts and recommended the death penalty by a nine-to-three vote as to the first-degree murder conviction. The trial court found three aggravating circumstances beyond a reasonable doubt: (1) prior violent felony convictions; (2) the murder was committed during the course of an attempted robbery and for pecuniary gain; and (3) that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner (CCP). The court found no statutory mitigating circumstances and only one non-statutory mitigating circumstance, that being that Mr. San Martin was a good son, grandson, and brother, had found religion in jail, and displayed a good attitude during his incarceration. The court found that the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating circumstances and sentenced Mr. San Martin to death on the first-degree murder charge. The trial court imposed a death sentence on January 25th, 1994. (R. 3630). On direct appeal, this Court affirmed the conviction and sentence. *San Martin v. State*, 705 So.2d 1337 (Fla. 1998).

On October 4th, 1999, Mr. San Martin filed a motion to vacate judgment of conviction and sentence with special request for leave to amend (PCR. 31-60). Mr. San Martin filed a contemporaneous motion for continuance of deadline for filing his post-conviction relief motion. Mr. San Martin then filed a motion to disqualify the sitting judge. (PCR. 81). He supplemented this motion on April 18, 2000 (PCR. 104). The Court recused itself at the May th, 2000, hearing, due to the specific allegations that the prosecutor in the case, Ms. Millian, had threatened or coerced a witness into testifying falsely. (PCR. T. 215).

The Court held the *Huff* hearing on January 7th, 2002, wherein it denied 28 of the 30 claims of error presented in Mr. San Martin's amended motion. The Court granted an evidentiary hearing as to claims IV, V, and VI. The hearings were held on December 18th, 2002, and February 4, 2003.

Subsequent to the hearings, Defendant filed his notice of appeal as to the denial of his motion for post-conviction relief and the instant appeal ensued.

STATEMENT OF FACTS IN POST CONVICTION PROCEEDINGS

Mr. San Martin testified in his behalf. According to Mr. San Martin, during the guilt phase, he did not testify because his attorney, Mr. De Aguero, told him not to. (PCR. 370). Mr. San Martin specifically stated that during his confession he was under fear of violence and "under depression." He also wanted to tell the jury as to how his life had been. (PCR. 371). During the penalty phase, Mr. San Martin conferred with his trial counsel, Mr. De Aguero, where he was again told not to testify. Had he testified, he would have told the jury that he had not planned to kill anyone. He would have also asked for mercy and would have explained that he was now a changed person. (PCR. 376). He would have also told the jury that his father used to beat him, tied him to a chair and beat him with a chain where such beatings caused him head injuries, and would have plead for mercy. (PCR. 377)

Codefendant Abreu testified. Mr. Abreu was a codefendant who had been offered a life sentence plea agreement in exchange for his testimony. He had testified during the penalty phase of the trial. Mr. Abreu testified that he and his codefendants, which included Mr. San Martin, stole two cars because they would use them to steal some money from some people. He did not know who the future victims would be. (PCR. 418) The cars were stolen the day before the robbery. (PCR. 419) According to Mr. Abreu, codefendant Franqui stated that he (Franqui) would take care of the guard. (PCR. 412).

Abreu was very specific that there did not exist any plan for himself and San Martin to kill anyone. (PCR. 421). Franqui was asked the following questions:

- Q. Now, this information that you just gave us, you told that the prosecutors in this case; is that correct?
 - A. Yes, I told them how it happened, how we had planned that.
- Q. And when you say that, you told them that when the cars were stolen there never was a discussion to shoot and kill anyone?
 - A. When we stole the cars?
 - O. Yeah
 - A. No, not when we stole the cars.

. . .

- Q. Did you tell the prosecutors what you testified here today how it happened?
 - A. Yeah, I explained it from the very beginning, the truth.

..

During his testimony, it became clear that there was no discussion regarding killing anyone when the cars were stolen. This would have been the day before the actual robbery that resulted in the homicide. (PCR. 423-424).

Mr. Abreu testified that the words as to killing took place about half an hour prior to the actual robbery. (PCR. 424). During cross examination, Mr. Abreu stated that the conversation where he and Mr. San Martin were told by Franqui that he (Franqui) would kill the body guard could have taken place anywhere between half an hour to two hours prior to the robbery. (PCR. 436). Abreu admitted to having told the investigator that the prosecutors told him to testify that Mr. San Martin knew that someone was going to get killed. (PCR. 428).

During cross examination by the State, Mr. Abreu stated that he was not threatened. During cross examination by codefendant's attorney, Abreu stated that they were there to do a robbery. Abreu stated very clearly, "If they don't shoot at us, we don't shoot back." (R. 449). As explained below, this testimony is quite different from the evidence entered during the penalty phase.

Upon further cross examination, Mr. Abreu testified that he and the other codefendants, including Mr. San Martin, spoke "outside the house there." (PCR. 465). This conversation took place "like a day or two before the actual robbery." *Id.* Abreu then admitted that the decision to shoot the bodyguard as stated by codefendant Franqui only took place on the drive to

the actual robbery, and not during the previous meeting for the theft of the cars. (PCR. 466). During cross, Abreu admitted that the statement by Franqui regarding his intention or "need" to kill the bodyguard occurred while they were driving around in a van before the robbery. (PCR. 471). Abreu admitted that the comment was only made after they stole the cars. (PCR. 471-472).

Manuel Vasquez, Esq., was called to testify. He stated that he was not aware of the conversations between Mr. De Aguero, San Martin's lead penalty phase counsel, and Mr. San Martin. (PCR. 512). Mr. Vasquez also stated that he was unaware whether Mr. San Martin had undergone a religious conversion while in jail. (PCR. 513).

Mr. de Aguero testified. He agreed that he had spent a "good many" hours speaking to Mr. San Martin regarding the progress of the case. (PCR. 515). Mr. De Aguero stated that he spoke with Mr. San Martin several times regarding whether or not he should testify. (PCR. 518). According to Mr. De Aguero, Mr. San Martin agreed that he would not testify, but he was not happy with the decision. (PCR. 518). Interestingly, this came as a response to the question as to whether Mr. San Martin made an "independent decision about whether or not it would be in his own best interest to testify?" *Id.* Mr. De Aguero clarified it further, stating that he made a recommendation, a "fairly clear" recommendation, but that ultimately it would be Mr. San Martin's own decision. (PCR. 518). According to Mr. De Aguero, Mr. San Martin never expressed a change of mind regarding his own testimony. It is important to note that the answers from Mr. De Aguero were that "I don't remember that," (PCR. 520), "I have no recollection of that comment to me, to be honest with you." (PCR. 521).

Mr. De Aguero admitted that this was his first capital case. (PCR. 523). He admitted that he and Mr. San Martin had some problems getting through the issue of the felony murder rule. (PCR. 524). He did not recall Mr. San Martin having a problem with the representation before the trial began. (PCR. 524). Insofar his trial file, wherein all of the State provided discovery would be contained, as well as personal notes, work product and evidence of the work done on the case of behalf of Mr. San Martin, Mr. De Aguero admitted that he had destroyed the file or "did not keep it beyond seven years." (PCR. 527). Any notes made contemporaneously with the representation of Mr. San Martin were thus destroyed by trial counsel. (PCR. 527).

Mr. De Aguero stated that Mr. San Martin's disagreement with the felony murder rule and underlying application continued through the entire

process and trial. (PCR. 532). Mr. De Aguero appeared not to recall the number of witnesses that he called during trial, if any, the number of mitigation witnesses or the arguments made by the State during closing, (PCR. 532-534). Mr. De Aguero admitted that none of the family members that testified supported the testimony of Dr. Miranda, one of the psychiatrists who testified. (PCR. 540). The former prosecutor Ms. Millian testified. Mr. Kastrenakes did not testify.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

The trial court committed reversible error where it summarily denied each claims I through III, and VII through XXX of the thirty claims raised by Appellant in his amended motion for post-conviction relief as the claims were not **conclusively** refuted by the record.

The trial court erred in denying claim V of appellant's motion below as the court's reading of the penalty phase testimony of codefendant Abreu is factually wrong

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING APPELLANT'S CLAIMS I THROUGH III, AND VII THROUGH XXX RAISED IN HIS AMENDED MOTION FOR POST CONVICTION AND/OR COLLATERAL RELIEF, WITHOUT DETERMINING SUFFICIENCY OF THE PLEADING ON ITS FACE AND WITHOUT PERMITTING ANY EVIDENTIARY HEARING OR AN OPPORTUNITY TO MAKE A RECORD FOR REVIEW?

The trial court summarily denied each claims I through III, and VII through XXX of the thirty claims raised by Appellant in his amended motion for post-conviction relief. The trial court erred in that it failed to consider whether any of the issues were legally or factually sufficient, and it failed to demonstrate clearly and objectively from the files and records in the case why each claim ought to be denied without any opportunity for an evidentiary hearing. It is well held law that the movant in a Rule 3.850 motion filed in a capital case is entitled to an evidentiary hearing unless "(1) the motion, files, and records in the case conclusively show that the [movant] is entitled to no relief, or (2) the motion or a particular claim is legally insufficient." *Freeman v. State*, 761 So.2d 1055, 1061 (Fla. 2000); *see also* Fla. R.Crim. P. 3.850(d). In the case of *Lawrence v. State*, 831 So. 2d 121 (Fla. 2002), after the defendant filed a motion for post-conviction relief, the trial court summarily denied his claims. In its opinion, this Court clearly expressed the statement of

the Florida law:

This Court has held on numerous occasions that a defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on his motion for post-conviction relief unless (1) the motion, files and records in the case conclusively show that the defendant is not entitled to any relief, or (2) the motion or the particular claim is facially invalid. *See Cook v. State*, 792 So.2d 1197, 1201-1202 (Fla. 2001); *Maharaj v. State*, 684 So.2d 726 (Fla. 1996), Lawrence at 127.

The defendant carries the burden of establishing a prima facie case based upon a legally valid claim. This Court has held the following: A motion for post-conviction relief can be denied without an evidentiary hearing when the motion and the record conclusively demonstrate that the movant is entitled to no relief. A defendant may not simply file a motion for post-conviction relief containing conclusory allegations that his or her trial counsel was ineffective and then expect to receive an evidentiary hearing. The defendant must allege specific facts that, when considering the totality of the circumstances, are not conclusively rebutted by the record and that demonstrate a deficiency on the part of counsel which is detrimental to the defendant. *Kennedy v. State*, 547 So.2d 912, 913 Fla. 1989) (citations omitted); see also *Freeman v. State*, 761 So.2d 1055, 1061 (Fla. 2000).

In Atwater v. State, 788 So.2d 223(Fla. 2001), where the issues raised included ineffective assistance, this Court provided guidance as to the principles applicable to all post conviction motions [Atwater; at 229]: We begin our analysis with the general proposition that a defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on a post conviction relief motion unless (1) the motion, files and records in the case conclusively show that the prisoner is entitled to no relief, or (2) the motion or a particular claim is legally insufficient. See, e.g., Maharaj v. State, 684 So. 2d 726 (Fla. 1996); Anderson v. State, 627 So. 2d 1170 (Fla. 1993); Hoffman v. State, 571 So. 2d 449 (Fla. 1990); Holland v. State, 503 So. 2d 1250 (Fla. 1987); Lemon v. State, 498 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1986); Fla. R. Crim. Pro. 3.850. The defendant bears the burden of establishing a prima facie case based upon a legally valid claim. Mere conclusory allegations are not sufficient to meet this burden. See Kennedy v. State, 547 So.2d 912(Fla. 1989). However, in cases where there has been no evidentiary hearing, we must accept the factual allegations made by the defendant to the extent that they are not refuted by the record. (citations omitted). We must examine each claim to determine if it is legally sufficient, and, if so, determine whether or not the claim is refuted by the record.

Applying these principles, the trial court should have conducted the *Huff* hearing under the presumption that Appellant is entitled to a full evidentiary hearing on all of his factual claims. After determining timeliness, the trial court should have determined whether each claim was legally sufficient on its face and, if so, determine whether or not the claim is **conclusively** refuted by the record.

In this case, the trial court failed to properly determine that Appellant's motion, or the files and records in the case, conclusively showed that he was not entitled to relief as a matter of law. The trial court erred in summarily denying all but three of the claims without any evidentiary hearing. Since there was no evidentiary hearing as to twenty seven of the claims, this Court must accept appellant's factual allegations as pleaded because they are completely consistent with the record. As a result, the case should be remanded for an evidentiary hearing as to the following, or any individual, claim.

I-a (Claim III)

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