IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC05-831

PABLO SAN MARTIN,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, CRIMINAL DIVISION

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL MCCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0012068 Office of the Attorney General Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 650 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 PH. (305) 377-5441 FAX (305) 377-5655

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

closing about Dr. Marina's alteration of her testimony, this issue was not raised below and is not properly before this Court. *Griffin*, 866 So. 2d at 11 n.5. Moreover, the claim is procedurally barred. *Robinson v. State*, 707 So. 2d 688, 697-99 (Fla. 1998). Further, Dr. Marina did alter her opinion on the stand. (T. 3011-12) Thus, there was nothing improper about the State commenting on this issue in closing, and counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to make a contrary claim. *Rodriguez v. State*, 919 So. 2d 1252, 1281-84 (Fla. 2005). Defendant is entitled to no relief.

With regard to the claim concerning cumulative errors and suppression, the lower court properly denied the claim. While Defendant now asserts that the issue was raised as a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing to seek suppression based on Defendant's IQ level as part of Claim X, the record belies this contention. Claim X was labeled as a claim that the cumulative effect of errors at Defendant's trial entitled him to relief. (PCR. 211) In the course of presenting the issue, Defendant asserted numerous claims of error. (PCR. 211-67) One of the issues that Defendant raised was the suppression of his confession on numerous grounds. (PCR. 222-45) While Defendant made general allegations about a waiver having to be knowing, intelligent and voluntary and that low

intelligence was a factor to be considered, he did not assert that his confession should have been suppressed because of his level of intelligence or inability to understand his rights. (PCR. 223, 224-25) Moreover, the only mentions of ineffective assistance of counsel were conclusory assertions that counsel had "failed to present specific arguments in support of suppression," and that counsel should have claimed that his confession should have been suppressed because of a delay in his arrest. (PCR. 223, 240, 241, 245) Thus, the record shows that no claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to seek suppression of Defendant's confession based upon his intelligence level was raised below, and in fact, no issue concerning his intelligence level being grounds to suppress was Since the issue was not presented below, it is not raised. properly before this Court now and should be rejected. Griffin, 866 So. 2d at 11 n.5.

Even if the issue had been presented below, it should still be denied. The issue of whether Defendant's confession was admissible was the subject of extensive pretrial litigation, which terminated unsuccessfully for Defendant. (R. 124-42) Defendant raised an issue regarding the denial of his motion to suppress on direct appeal, and this Court affirmed. *San Martin*, 705 So. 2d at 1344-45. This Court has held that attempts to

relitigate issues that were raised and rejected at trial and on direct appeal using different arguments are procedurally barred. Harvey v. Dugger, 656 So. 2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1995). Moreover, this Court has held that assertions of ineffective assistance of counsel cannot be used as an attempt to avoid the procedural bar on an issue that was raised and rejected on direct appeal. Cherry v. State, 656 So. 2d 1069, 1072 (Fla. 1995). Here, Defendant is attempting to relitigate the issue of the voluntariness of his confession by asserting different grounds and couching the claim in terms of ineffective assistance of counsel. However, doing so does not prevent the claim from being procedurally barred. Since the issue was procedurally barred, it was properly summarily denied. The lower court should be affirmed.

Even if the issue had been raised below and was not procedurally barred, Defendant would still be entitled to no relief. In *Colorado v. Connelly*, 479 U.S. 157, 167 (1986), the Court held that a defendant's mental state did not render a confession or a waiver of one's *Miranda* rights involuntary, absent evidence of coercive police activity. *See also Hudson v. State*, 538 So. 2d 829, 830 n.4 (Fla. 1989). Moreover, in *Godinez v. Moran*, 509 U.S. 389 (1993), the Court rejected the concept that there is a special level of mental competence to

waive a constitutional right. Instead, the Court held that a defendant who was competent to stand trial is also competent to waive his rights. Thus, pursuant to these cases, the only issue to which Defendant's mental state would have been relevant would be whether Defendant understood his rights generally when he waived them.

At the suppression hearing, Defendant testified that he did not understand his rights the first time they were read so he asked that they be read again. (T. 386) According to Defendant when the right were read a second time, he invoked his right to counsel but his invocation was ignored and that his subsequent confession was the result of his fear from hearing others being beaten. (T. 386-87) In contrast, Det. Santos testified that he read Defendant his rights, Defendant indicated he understood and was waiving his rights and Defendant signed a waiver of rights form. (T. 268-72, 275) Det. Albert Nabut also testified that read Defendant his rights and Defendant indicated he he understood his rights and was waiving them when he interviewed Defendant a couple of days later. (T. 167-68, 171-73) After considering this testimony, the trial court found that Defendant's testimony was not credible and the officers' testimony was credible. (R. 138)

Given that Defendant testified that he eventually

understood and invoked his rights, any claim that his waiver was invalid because he did not understand his rights would have been without merit. *Connelly; Godinez*. As such, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to make the meritless claim that the waiver of rights was invalid because Defendant did not understand his rights. *Franqui v. State*, 32 Fla. L. Weekly S210, S212 (Fla. May 3, 2007). The denial of the claim should be affirmed.

With regard to the claim regarding Abreu's affidavit, the lower court properly rejected these claims.⁸ In Claims XI and XII, Defendant asserted that he was innocent of first degree murder and the death penalty, respectively. (PCR. 267-68) As the United States Supreme Court has held, a claim of actually innocence of a crime is a claim of newly discovered evidence. *Herrera v. Collins*, 506 U.S. 390 (1993). In order to prevail on a claim of newly discovered evidence, a defendant must show that the evidence was unknown to defendant, his counsel or the court at the time of trial, that it could not have been learned through the exercise of due diligence, and that it would

⁸ In the heading of this claim, Defendant asserts the issue pertains to the denial of Claims X and XI in the motion for post conviction relief. However, Claim X in the motion for post conviction relief was a claim of cumulative error that had nothing to do with the Abreu affidavit. (PCR. 211-67) Instead, the issues regarding the Abreu affidavit that were summarily denied were Claims XI and XII. (PCR. 267-68)

probably produce an acquittal on retrial. *Jones v. State*, 591 So. 2d 911, 915-16 (Fla. 1991).

In order to state a facially sufficient claim of innocent of the death penalty, a defendant must show "based on the evidence proffered plus all record evidence, a fair probability that a rational fact finder would have entertained a reasonable doubt as to the existence of those facts which are prerequisites under state or federal law for the imposition of the death penalty." Sawyer v. Whitley, 505 U.S. 333, 346 (1992)(quoting Sawyer v. Whitley, 945 F.2d 812 (5th Cir. 1991)). The Court further noted that "the 'actual innocence' requirement must focus on those elements that render a defendant eligible for the death penalty, and not on additional mitigating evidence that was prevented from being introduced as a result of a claimed constitutional error." Id. at 347. In applying this test to Florida's sentencing law, the Eleventh Circuit stated:

a petitioner may make a colorable showing that he is actually innocent of the death penalty by presenting evidence that an alleged constitutional error implicates <u>all</u> of the aggravating factors found to be present by the sentencing body. That is, but for the constitutional error, the sentencing body <u>could not</u> have found <u>any</u> aggravating factors and thus petitioner was ineligible for the death penalty.

Johnson v. Singletary, 938 F.2d 1166, 1183 (11th Cir. 1991)(en banc). This formulation was cited with approval in Sawyer. Sawyer, 505 U.S. at 347 & n.15.

The totality of Defendant's allegations regarding Claim XI

was:

Defendant is innocent of First Degree Murder. Defendant did not plan to the killing of Lopez as claimed by the State. Abreu's affidavit clearly puts into question the finding of premeditation necessary to support a conviction for First Degree murder. Had Abreu's truthful testimony been presented Defendant may have been convicted of lesser offense on homicide.

(PCR. 267) The allegations regarding Claim XII were:

Defendant is innocent of the death penalty imposed for First Degree Murder. Defendant did not plan the killing of Lopez as claimed by the State. Abreu's affidavit clearly put into question the finding of heightened premeditation necessary for the fining of CCP. Had Abreu's truthful testimony been presented Defendant would probably have received a life sentence.

(PCR. 268) In the affidavit mentioned in both claims, Abreu admitted that he and Defendant planned to commit the robbery and that the murder occurred during the robbery. (PCR. 314-16)

As can be seen from the foregoing, Defendant's claims consisted of little more than conclusory allegations that Abreu would testify that there was no plan to kill Mr. Lopez, which would allegedly affect the findings of premeditation and CCP. Even in these conclusory allegations, evidence was presented that Defendant committed first degree felony murder and that the during the course of a robbery and for pecuniary gain aggravators were applicable. Moreover, no allegation was made regarding the prior violent felony aggravator. Given that the allegations were conclusory, that the allegations showed that Defendant was guilt of felony murder and two aggravators applied and that the allegations did not address another aggravator, the claims were facially insufficient and properly summarily denied. *Ragsdale v. State*, 720 So. 2d 203, 207 (Fla. 1998).

Moreover, the lack of specific allegations was particularly acute in this case. The State did not present Abreu's testimony that there was a prearranged plan to kill Mr. Lopez until the penalty phase. The State did present evidence that Defendant confessed to being involved in these crimes at the guilt phase. (T. 2114-23) Despite the lack of any statements of intent to kill, this Court found the evidence sufficient to support a conviction under premeditated and felony murder theories on direct appeal based on the plan to rob the Cabanases and the evidence of the defendants' actions:

In issues 4 and 5, [Defendant] argues that the evidence was insufficient to sustain his conviction for premeditated first-degree murder. We find no merit to these issues. Both of the Cabanases testified that the masked men initiated the shooting immediately upon exiting the first Suburban. Cabanas Senior also testified that these assailants shot into the passenger compartment of the Blazer, with one shot only missing his head because he ducked quickly. The physical evidence confirmed extensive bullet damage to the victims' vehicles. The Cabanases' Blazer sustained ten bullet holes, including holes in the windshield seat. Lopez's vehicle revealed and the passenger evidence that one bullet had passed through the windshield over the steering wheel, through the back window, and landed in the bed of the truck; another

bullet ricocheted off the windshield. The firearms evidence revealed that at least four shells were ejected at the murder scene from the qun that [Defendant] admits using; four other spent casings from the same gun were found near the Suburban that [Defendant] abandoned at another location. This evidence is sufficient to support [Defendant's] conviction for premeditated murder. Furthermore, the jury returned a general verdict on the first-degree murder charge and the circumstances of this case clearly support a conviction under the felony murder theory: [Defendant] was a principal and a direct, active participant in the attempted robbery which resulted in Lopez's murder and his actions clearly indicate a reckless indifference to human life. See Tison v. Arizona, 481 U.S. 137, 158, 95 L. Ed. 2d 127, 107 S. Ct. 1676 (1987)(holding that major participation in the felony committed, combined with reckless indifference to human life, is sufficient to satisfy culpability requirement for imposing death sentence under felony murder theory). Thus, we find no error as to [Defendant's] conviction for first-degree murder.

San Martin, 705 So. 2d at 1345-46. Since this holding has nothing to do with Abreu's testimony, Claim XI was properly denied. *Diaz v. State*, 945 So. 2d 1136, 1147-48 (Fla. 2006). The lower court should be affirmed.

Additionally, it should be remembered that while the lower court summarily denied these claims, it did grant an evidentiary hearing on the claims that Abreu's affidavit demonstrated violations of *Brady* and *Giglio*. At that hearing, Abreu testified that there was a plan to kill Mr. Lopez in place before the defendants started to commit the robbery. (PCT. 420-21, 430-36, 465-66) Based on this testimony, the lower court rejected the *Brady* and *Giglio* claims. (PCR. 91-95) As this Court has noted, the standard for newly discovered evidence claims is stringent. *Melton v. State*, 949 So. 2d 994, 1011 (Fla. 2006). Thus, the fact that Defendant did not prove that he was entitled to relief under the lesser standard of prejudice for *Brady* and *Giglio* claims shows that these claims too were without merit. The denial of the claims should be affirmed.

With regard to the claim regarding the rejection of mitigation, the lower court properly denied this claim as facially insufficient and procedurally barred. The totality of Defendant's allegations was:

The trial court failed to adequately consider the mitigating circumstances set out in the record. In addition, newly available evidence now establishes much greater mitigation for Defendant.

(PCR. 270) Given the conclusory nature of these allegations, the lower court properly denied this claim. *Ragsdale v. State*, 720 So. 2d 203, 207 (Fla. 1998). It should be affirmed.

Moreover, this Court has held that claims regarding a trial court's rejection of mitigation are issues that are procedurally barred in post conviction litigation. *Griffin v. State*, 866 So. 2d 1, 18 (Fla. 2003). As such, this claim was properly denied as procedurally barred.

While Defendant now suggests that the trial court should have granted an evidentiary hearing on this claim by considering

Abreu's affidavit as newly discovered mitigating evidence, this claim is not properly before this Court. This claim is being raised for the first time before this Court. This Court has held that claims raised for the first time on post conviction appeal are procedurally barred. *Griffin*, 866 So. 2d at 11 n.5. As such, this assertion should be rejected.

Moreover, the lower court granted an evidentiary hearing on Defendant's claims that the Abreu affidavit demonstrated a *Brady* and *Giglio* violation. After considering the evidence presented in support of these claims, the lower court denied them, finding that Defendant had not proven any element of either of these claims.⁹ This Court has held that the standard for relief under a claim of newly discovered evidence is stringent. *Melton v. State*, 949 So. 2d 994, 1011 (Fla. 2006). Thus, the fact that Defendant did not prove that he was entitled to relief under the lesser standard of prejudice for *Brady* and *Giglio* claims shows that this claim too was without merit. The denial of the claim should be affirmed.

With regard to the claim concerning this Court's proportionality review, the lower court properly denied this claim because it was facially insufficient, procedurally barred and without merit. The totality of Defendant's allegations

⁹ The propriety of the denial of these claims is addressed in Issue II, *infra*.

under this issue was:

The Florida Supreme Court ignored mitigating evidence in upholding Defendant's death sentence and did not properly weigh the aggravating and mitigating circumstances. The Florida Supreme Court did not conduct a proper proportionality review especially in light of the fact that Defendant was not the shooter. The Florida Supreme Court did not conduct a proper harmless error analysis on both guilt and penalty phase issues.

(PCR. 278) Given the conclusory nature of these allegations, the lower court properly denied this claim because it was facially insufficient. *Ragsdale v. State*, 720 So. 2d 203, 207 (Fla. 1998). It should be affirmed.

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